
1 
 

 
 

 

County of Inyo 
Planning Commission 

 
Board of Supervisors Room 

Inyo County Administrative Center 
Independence, California 

 

 
INYO COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
Howard Lehwald  First District                          Inyo County Planning Commission 
Caitlin (Kate) J. Morley Second District            Post Office Drawer L 
Todd Vogel   Third District (Chair)             Independence, CA 93526 
Callie Peek   Fourth District (Vice Chair)                     (760) 878-0263 
Aaron Cassell             Fifth District                  (760) 872-2712 FAX 
                                                          inyoplanning@inyocounty.us  
                      
STAFF 
Cathreen Richards  Planning Director 
Danielle Visuaño   Senior Planner 
Ryan Standridge    Associate Planner 
Cynthia Draper   Associate Planner 
Sally Faircloth   Project Coordinator 
Michael Errante   Public Works Director 
Nate Greenberg   County Administrator 
Christian Milovich  Assistant County Counsel 
 
This meeting will be held in the Board of Supervisors Room located at 224 N. Edwards 
Street, in Independence California, beginning at 10:00 a.m.  
 
• Items will be heard in the order listed on the agenda unless the Planning Commission rearranges the order, or the items are continued.  

Estimated start times are indicated for each item.  The times are approximate, and no item will be discussed before its listed time. 
• Lunch Break will be given at the Planning Commission’s convenience. 
• The Planning Commission Chairperson will announce when public testimony can be given for items on the agenda. The Commission 

will consider testimony on both the project and related environmental documents. 
• The applicant or any interested person may appeal all final decisions of the Planning Commission to the Board of Supervisors.  Appeals 

must be filed in writing to the Inyo County Board of Supervisors within 15 calendar days per ICC Chapter 15 [California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Procedures] and Chapter 18 (Zoning), and 10 calendar days per ICC Chapter 16 (Subdivisions), of the action by 
the Planning Commission.  If an appeal is filed, there is a fee of $300.00.  Appeals and accompanying fees must be delivered to the 
Clerk of the Board Office at County Administrative Center Independence, California. If you challenge in court any finding, 
determination or decision made pursuant to a public hearing on a matter contained in this agenda, you may be limited to raising only 
those issues you or someone else raised at the public hearing, or in written correspondence delivered to the Inyo County Planning 
Commission at, or prior to, the public hearing. 

 
Public Notice:  In Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please 
contact the Planning Department at (760) 878-0263 (28 CFR 35.102-3.104 ADA Title II).  Notification 72 hours prior to the meeting will 
enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.  Should you because of a disability require 
appropriate alternative formatting of this agenda, please notify the Planning Department 2 hours prior to the meeting to enable the County 
to make the agenda available in a reasonable alternative format (Government Code Section 54954.2). 
 
 

April 23, 2025 
 
10:00 A.M.  
 

 

mailto:inyoplanning@inyocounty.us


2 
 

1.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE.  
 
2. ROLL CALL – Roll Call to be taken by staff. 
 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD – This is the opportunity for anyone in the audience 

to address the Planning Commission on any planning subject that is not scheduled on 
the agenda. 

 
4.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Approval of minutes from the February 26, 2025, 

Planning Commission Meeting. 
 
5. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT (CUP) 2023-02/LEON7FARMS   

The applicant has requested a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to cultivate cannabis on 
a 2.5-acre parcel at 631 Ruby Lane, Charleston View, CA, in unincorporated Inyo 
County (APN 048-364-070). The project includes approximately 3,000 square feet of 
cannabis cultivation within two greenhouses, as well as five shipping containers for 
seed processing, drying, employee breaks, and equipment storage. The site is 
surrounded by vacant land, with the nearest town, Pahrump, NV, about 30 miles to the 
north. This project is classified as a Mitigated Negative Declaration under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

 
 
6. TENTATVE PARCEL MAP No. 433/ESLS-BALTAZAR 

The applicant is seeking approval to subdivide a 5 acre parcel into two equal parcels 
of 2.5 acres each. Both proposed parcels currently do not contain any structures and 
there are no plans for new construction. The subdivision will not create any setback 
issues for any future development of dwellings or accessory structures.  The property 
is located at 1990 Indian Springs Dr. Alabama Hills, California. Both proposed parcels 
are zoned Rural Residential (RR-2.5), which requires a minimum lot size of 2.5-acres, 
and are designated as Rural Residential Medium (RRM) use in the General Plan. This 
project is exempt from CEQA under General Rule 15061(b)(3). 

 
 

7. CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 2019-06/GROW4GOLDVIOLATION 
HEARING – On August 28, 2019 the Planning Commission, upon the  
recommendation of staff, approved a CUP for the applicant to operate a commercial 
cannabis cultivation operation located approximately 26-miles southeast of the 
community of Charleston View in Sandy Valley on Long Rd.  The project proposal 
included drying and packaging the cultivated product at the project site. The CUP was 
conditioned with, among other things, a requirement to conform to all applicable 
provisions of the Inyo County Code and State Regulations.  The applicant has failed 
to meet these conditions as the operation is being conducted with no building, 
electrical or plumbing permits, therefore, staff is recommending the revocation of the 
CUP.  This action is exempt from CEQA under 15321 – Enforcement Actions by 
Regulatory Agencies. 

 
 
 

Action 
Item / 
Public 

Hearing 

Action 
Item / 
Public 

Hearing 

Action 
Item / 
Public 
Hearin

 



3 
 

 
8. ZONE TEXT AMENDMENT 2024-03 / MAINTENANCE OF 

ANIMALS  
Staff is reintroducing this item that was originally presented to the Planning 
Commission on July 24, 2024. It includes an updated proposed ordinance to 
update Section 18.78.310 – Maintenance of Animals; and Subsections 
18.12.020 (D) and 18.12.040 (J) Open Space, of the Inyo County Code to:  

•        identify prohibited nuisances;  
•        add stream buffer language; and, 
•        include a requirement for kennels in the Open Space zone to obtain a 

Conditional Use Permit (CUP). 
The project is Exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act by 
the Common Sense Rule 15061(b)(3). Subsequent CUPs for kennels will 
require project specific CEQA evaluations. 

 
9.  COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS/COMMENTS 
 

10.    PLANNING DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
11. ADJORN 
 
 
  
 
  

Action 
Item / 
Public 

Hearing 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 1 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

   ` 
COUNTY OF INYO 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 26, 2025 MEETING 
 

COMMISSIONERS: 
HOWARD LEHWALD                                     FIRST DISTRICT   Inyo County Planning Commission 
CAITLIN (KATE) J.  MORLEY   SECOND DISTRICT  Post Office Drawer L 
TODD VOGEL    THIRD DISTRICT (CHAIR)  Independence, CA 93526 
CALLIE PEEK    FOURTH DISTRICT (VICE)                      (760) 878-0263 
AARON CASSELL    FIFTH DISTRICT   (760) 872-0712 FAX  
                              
                                                     
 STAFF: 
CATHREEN RICHARDS   PLANNING DIRECTOR 
CHRISTIAN MILOVICH   ASSISTANT COUNTY COUNSEL 
RYAN STANDRIDGE   ASSOCIATE PLANNER 
DANIELLE VISUANO   SENIOR PLANNER 
CYNTHIA DRAPER   ASSISTANT PLANNER   
SALLY FAIRCLOTH   PROJECT COORDINATOR 
NATE GREENBERG   COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 
MIKE ERRANTE    PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 
 
The Inyo County Planning Commission met in regular session on Wednesday, February 26, 2025. Commissioner Peek opened the meeting 
at 10:02 a.m. These minutes are to be considered for approval by the Planning Commission at their next scheduled meeting.  
 
ITEM 1: PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – All recited the Pledge of Allegiance at 10:02 a.m.  
 
ITEM 2: ROLL CALL - Commissioners, Callie Peek, Kate Morley, Howard Lehwald, and 

Aaron Cassell were present.  
 

Staff present: Cathreen Richards, Planning Director, Danielle Visuaño, Senior Planner, 
Cynthia Draper, Associate Planner, Sally Faircloth, Project Coordinator and Christian 
Milovich, Assistant County Counsel. 
 
Staff absent: Nate Greenberg, County Administrator; Michael Errante, Public  
Works Director. 

  
ITEM 3: PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD – This item provides the opportunity for the public 

to address the Planning Commission on any planning subject that is not scheduled on 
the agenda.   

 
Vice-Chair Peek opened Public Comment Period at 10:04 a.m. 
 
Vice-Chair Peek asked if there was anyone else in the audience wishing to make a 
public comment. 
 
No comments were made.   
 
Vice-Chair Peek closed Public Comment Period at 10:04 a.m. 
 
 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 2 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

ITEM 4:   APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Approval of minutes from the January 22, 2025, 
Planning Commission Meeting. 

 
MOTION: Commissioner Morley made the motion to approve the minutes.  The motion was 

seconded by Commissioner Lehwald. 
 
 Minutes were approved 4-1 by general consent with Chair Vogel absent. 
 
ITEM 5:   TENTATVE PARCEL MAP No. 429/McINTYRE – The applicant is seeking approval 

to subdivide a 32,007-square-foot parcel into two separate lots: Parcel 1, measuring 15,045 
square feet, and Parcel 2, measuring 16,962 square feet. Each parcel currently contains an 
existing single-family home. The subdivision will not create any set-back issues for the 
homes or accessory structures on the property. The property is located at 3071 W. Line 
Street in Bishop, California, and both proposed parcels are zoned Residential – Single 
Residence (R-1 10,000), which requires a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet. The 
parcels are also designated for Residential Low Density (RL) use in the General Plan. This 
project is exempt from CEQA under General Rule 15061(b)(3). 

 
Cynthia Draper, Associate Planner, presented the staff report as well as a slide show for 
this project. 
 
Commissioner Lehwald asked if there were any fire or easement issues.  
 
Ms. Draper was able to answer Commissioner Lehwald’s question by stating the local 
fire department had no issues or concerns regarding the easement.  
 
Commissioner Morley had an additional question regarding an existing easement which 
did not reference a street number on it. 
 
Ms. Draper answered Commissioner Morley’s question by stating that it was an easement 
for a different property.  
 
Vice-Chair Peek opened and closed the Public Comment Period at 10:14 a.m. 
 
No comments were made.   
 
Vice-Chair Peek opened discussion with the Commissioners at 10:14 a.m.  
 

MOTION:  Commissioner Morley made a motion to move with the three recommended actions 
listed in the staff report to find the proposed project Tentative Parcel Map No. 
429/McIntyre is exempt from the requirements of CEQA, make certain findings with 
respect to and approve Tentative Parcel Map No. 429/McIntyre subject to Conditions 
of approval 1-7 and to waive any pre-improvements and utility installations required 
by Inyo County Code Section 16.40.10 as permitted. 

 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Cassell.   
 

 The Motion passed 4-1 at 10:15 a.m. with Chair Vogel absent. 

 
 
  



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 3 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

ITEM 6:  CUP 2024-10/ELKS PARK - The applicant, Bishop Elks, has applied for a CUP to 
continue to operate a currently non-conforming lodge that includes recreational activities, 
RV camping, and event rentals that involve large assemblages of people. The Bishop Elks 
Lodge has been operating at 3301 West Line Street, Bishop, since 1979. The applicant is 
asking for the CUP to continue these already established uses on the property without any 
expansion, building or additional uses. This project is Exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 15301 Existing 
Facilities. 

 
 Cathreen Richards, Planning Director, presented the staff report with a slide show. 
  
 Ms. Richards stated there was one public comment that was received after the staff report 

was written. The commentor stated they did not like the RVs at the location nor did people 
respect the ten o’clock time frame.  

 
 Assistant County Counsel, Christian asked Ms. Richards if there was a copy of the letter 

for the public should they wish to review the letter. 
 
 Ms. Richards stated yes, a copy of the letter was available to view for the public. 
 
 Ms. Richards also stated there were representatives from the Elks Lodge present in the 

audience in the event anyone should have questions. 
 
 Vice Chair Peek asked Ms. Richards if camping was for Elks members only or if it was 

offered to renters holding an event. 
 
 Mr. Steve Keef, Elks representative, stated camping is for members only. However, they 

have allowed people to camp at the site that were part of the wedding party. 
 
 Commissioner Cassell asked about noise compliance and if there was an overnight host. 
 
 Ms. Richards stated noise complaints would be a County Code Enforcement and Sheriff’s 

issue. 
 
 Mr. Keef stated the Elks Lodge does not have an overnight host in attendance at present 

but is hoping to make that change soon. 
 
 Commission Morley inquired as to where the current RV parking space hookups are 

located in reference to the local neighborhood properties. 
 
 Ms. Richards was able to answer Commissioner Morley’s question to her satisfaction. 
 
 Commissioner Lehwald asked a question of Mr. Keef regarding the back area for this 

location and if it was rented out during Mule Days. 
 
 Mr. Steve Keef answered Commissioner Lehwald’s question stating they only rent out the 

back area for dry camping only during Mule Days  with restrictions such as no open fires 
at anytime and other item conditions listed on a sheet. 

 
 
 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 4 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

 
 
 Ms. Richards stated for the record that there has been only one noise complaint about the 

Elks Park where a party went on past the ten o’clock curfew. 
 
 Vice-Chair Peek opened for Public Hearing at 10:30 a.m. 
  
 Ms. Diane Hedding stated she resides two houses from the venue and provided public 

comment regarding noise concerns from the Elks Lodge venue. She expressed that the 
amplified sound from the PA system and music is disruptive. Ms. Hedding suggested that 
the Elks Lodge be more mindful of noise levels, consider using a volume meter for 
monitoring, and have a representative present during events to ensure compliance and 
accountability. 

 
 Craig London, an officer of the Elks Lodge, provided public comment. He mentioned that 

he frequently drives by the Elks Lodge and wanted to address a noise complaint regarding 
a party and loud music. Mr. London explained that his wife, the secretary of the Elks Lodge, 
had asked him to check on the park around 9:50 pm to ensure it was quiet. He spoke with 
a woman who had rented the venue, and she claimed to be unaware of the 10:00 pm curfew, 
which he later realized was untrue. During the conversation, another Elks officer present 
at the party advised that the event continue. Mr. London later apologized for the noise and 
any inconvenience caused. He also mentioned being aware of other noise issues from 
private parties in the area that were not associated with the Elks Lodge and reiterated that 
the Elks would continue to strive to be good neighbors. 

 
 Dr. Nicholson, a resident near the Elks Lodge Park, stood for public comment. He shared 

that, after polling his neighbors, he and the others in the area agreed that the parties and 
music were enjoyable and contributed to a festive atmosphere. 

 
Vice-Chair Peek closed the public hearing and opened discussion with the Commissioners 
at 10:41 a.m.   
 
Commissioner Lehwald had directed a comment/question for the Elks members inquiring 
about their knowledge regarding the frequency of individuals driving by the area in RVs, 
noticing an open space, and choosing to park overnight without the Elks' permission. 
 
Elks members Steve Keef and Craig London, along with Dr. Nicholson, stated that they 
were not aware of this issue occurring. It was also mentioned that some people may not 
realize they can go online to reserve an overnight space for those wishing to stay over. 
 
At 10:45, Assistant County Counsel Christian Milovich informed the Commission that if 
they wished to hear additional testimony, they would need to reopen public comment. 
 
Vice-Chair Peek re-opened for Public Hearing at 10:47 a.m. 
 
Ms. Hedding returned to address the Commission, reiterating concerns about noise levels 
from festive events. She emphasized that she is simply requesting a reduction in volume. 
 
Vice-Chair Peek closed the public hearing and re-opened discussion with the 
Commissioners at 10:48 a.m.   
 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 5 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

Commissioner Morley asked a question if the county has a noise ordinance. 
 
Ms. Richards stated that the county does not have an official noise ordinance and instead 
adheres to the penal code. 
 
Assistant County Counsel, Christian Milovich,  stated there is a county code section related 
to County Parks referencing to no “hooting and hollering” during the quiet hours 10:00pm 
to 8:00 am. 
 
Commissioner Cassell asked if the City of Bishop has any noise ordinances. 
 
Ms. Richards stated she did not know if City of Bishop had any noise ordinances.  
 
Commissioner Cassell inquired whether camping at the Elks Lodge falls under the Lodge's 
bylaws or if it is also subject to county regulations. 
 
Ms. Richards stated that there are currently seven RV spaces designated for members only 
during Mule Days. However, she noted that county language could be revised to specify 
that these spaces are for special events and for Elks Lodge members and their guests.  She 
also stated that language can be added at the request of the commissioners by creating a 
motion to add. 
 
Commissioner Lehwald asked Vice-Chair Peek a question or possibly back to the Elks 
regarding a posted phone number should there be a complaint by someone in the area.  
 
Mr. Steve Keef, an Elks member, stated that there is no physical sign or posted number for 
complaints. However, he noted that a contact number is available on the website where 
individuals can leave a message. 
 
Mr. Wayne Ball, officer of the Elks Lodge,  stood up to address the commission.  
 
Assistant County Counsel Christian Milovich interjected to inform the Commission that if 
they intended to continue asking questions of the members of the public, the public hearing 
would need to be formally reopened.  
 
Vice-Chair Peek re-opened for Public Hearing at 10:55 a.m. 
 
Mr. Wayne Ball, an officer of the Elks Lodge, addressed the Commission, stating that one 
of his responsibilities is to patrol the park daily to prevent vandalism and address 
homelessness concerns. He noted that his phone number is available on the website for any 
questions, concerns, or complaints. Mr. Ball emphasized that the Elks Lodge is committed 
to the community and encourages everyone to visit and have a good time.  
 
Mr. Craig London commented on the issue of noise, noting that the county hosts a music 
festival at the Millpond. He expressed that the noise from the event disrupts his sleep and 
inquired about a noise ordinance. 
 
Ms. Milovich, Assistant County Counsel, stated in general there is not a noise ordinance 
for Inyo County. However, she noted that there is a park ordinance that includes provisions 
prohibiting excessive noise, such as no "hoot or holler," and establishes quiet hours from 
10:00 PM to 8:00 AM. 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 6 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

 
Vice-Chair Peek asked the commissioners if they had any further questions for the 
members of the public. 
 
At this moment, Ms. Milovich corrected her statement regarding the park ordinance 
provision, clarifying that it prohibits excessive noise, including "hooting, calling, and 
blowing of automobile horns." 
 
Vice-Chair Peek closed the public hearing and re-opened discussion with the 
Commissioners at 10:58 a.m.   
 
Vice-Chair Peek commented on the benefits of the venue, highlighting its positive impact 
on the community by hosting a variety of events. 
 
Commissioner Morley acknowledged the public's concerns regarding noise levels and 
suggested that the Elks Lodge remind venue renters to be mindful of nearby neighbors. She 
stated that setting a decibel limit does not seem appropriate at this time but noted that the 
county code regarding noise levels in parks could apply. 
 
Ms. Richards stated in the event someone needed immediate assistance to the noise level 
issues, a person can always contact the Sheriff’s office after 10:00 pm. 
 
Commissioner Cassell commented that, given his familiarity with tourism, he understands 
that some individuals may exceed acceptable noise levels. He asked if the Elks Lodge could 
remain vigilant in ensuring that venue renters adhere to the venue’s requirements and 
remain respectful of neighboring residents. 
 

MOTION:  Commissioner Lehwald moved to approve the CUP 2024-10/Elks Park subject to the 
finding list in the staff report findings 1-7 and subject to the conditions of approval 
listed in the staff report on pages seven & eight inclusive of adherence to quiet hours 
from 10:00 p.m. to 8:00 a.m. inclusive of seven RV spaces may be rented exclusively 
to Elks members and their guests inclusive of use of the property for limited dry 
camping during Mule Days or other similar events for Elks members and guests shall 
be permitted and find the project is exempt under CEQA. 

 
 The motion was seconded by Vice-Chair Peek.   

 
 The Motion passed 4-1 at 11:01 a.m. with Chair Vogel absent. 

ITEM 7:  CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 2024-06; TELECOMMUNICATIONS PLAN 
UPDATE 2024-02/VERIZON-SEQUOIA-LONE PINE.  The applicant, Verizon 
Wireless – c/o Armando Montes with Sequoia Deployment Services, has submitted an 
application to update Verizon’s existing Telecommunications Plan and request a 
Conditional Use Permit to construct a 105-foot monopole tower.  The tower will house six 
6-foot panel antennas, three 3-foot panel antennas, along with six remote radio units, two 
surge suppressors and two 4-foot microwave dishes. The property is located at 1203 Lubken 
Canyon Road, Lone Pine, California and has a Zoning Designation of Open Space with a 
40-acre minimum (OS-40) and is owned by Scott and Mary Kemp, with Tax Assessor Parcel 
Number (APN) 026-150-30. The project is a Mitigated Negative Declaration of 
Environmental Impact under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 7 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

 
 Danielle Visuaño, Senior Planner, presented the staff report with a slide show. 
 
 Ms. Visuaño stated that Mr. Pete Shubin, a representative from Sequoia Development 

Services, was present in the audience and available to answer any questions. 
  
 Vice-Chair Peek asked Ms. Visuaño whether the type of tower being discussed would 

resemble a tree or have a similar design intended to blend in with the surroundings. 
 
 Ms. Visuaño stated that the tower will not be designed to resemble a tree; however, the pole 

will be painted with non-glare paint to minimize visual impact. 
 
 Commissioner Cassell asked Ms. Visuaño how this tower will affect the Mt. Whitney cabins 

and store in the area.  
 
 Mr. Pete Shubin, representative from Sequoia Development Services, revisited the question 

regarding the use of a faux tree versus a standard tower. He explained that, after speaking 
with neighbors in the surrounding area and further discussion, it was determined that a 
standard tower was the better option, as attempting to disguise a 150-foot structure would be 
less effective. 

 
 Mr. Shubin also addressed coverage in response to Commissioner Cassell’s question, stating 

that the proposed tower will provide new, added coverage for Verizon in the area. 
                       
 Commissioner Lehwald asked Mr. Shubin a question about repeaters. 
 
 Mr. Shubin was able to answer his question to Commissioner Lehwald’s satisfaction. 
 
 Commissioner Cassell as Mr. Shubin if this tower will have beacon lights, guide wires or 

will booster antennas be able to capture the signal coming from the tower. 
 
 Mr. Shubin stated that the tower will not include any beacon lights or guide wires. He also 

noted that there are localized tools available that can amplify outdoor signals for improved 
indoor reception. 

 
Vice-Chair Peek opened and closed the Public Comment Period at 11:51 a.m. 
 
No comments were made.   
 
Vice-Chair Peek opened discussion with the Commissioners at 11:51 a.m.  
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 8 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

 
 

MOTION:  Commissioner Morley made a motion to move to adopt the Mitigated Negative Declaration 
of Environmental Impact Pursuant to CEQA, prepared for CUP 2024-06 / 
Telecommunications Plan Update 2024-02 / Verizon-Sequoia-Lone Pine. Make certain 
findings with respect to, and approve, CUP 2024-06/Verizon-Sequoia-Lone Pine as 
included in our staff report and make certain findings with respect to, and approve, 
Telecommunications Plan Update 2024-02/Verizon-Sequoia-Lone Pine with certain 
findings that are being made are the findings listed in the staff report submitted to the 
Planning Commission and the use permit subject to the conditions as listed in the staff 
report. 

   
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Cassell.   
 

 The Motion passed 4-1 at 11:56 a.m. with Chair Vogel absent. 

 

ITEM 8:   RESIDENTIAL INFILL PROJECT WORKSHOP #1. (INFORMATIONAL) 
Planning staff along with the consultant, Precision Civil Engineering, Inc., will conduct a 
workshop to discuss issues related to identifying updates and modifications to the Zoning 
and General Plan requirements that could help infill housing in the communities of Big 
Pine, Independence, and Lone Pine.  This workshop will focus on exiting residential design 
standards and their relationship with the California Building Code, review of ADU 
requirements and vacant and underutilized zoned parcels. 

 
 Danielle Visuaño, Senior Planner, presented along with Jenna Chillingerian  and  

Luke Risner with Precision Civil Engineering.  
 
 Ms. Chillingerian presented the staff report accompanied by a slideshow. She stated that 

three workshops have been scheduled to take place in Big Pine, Lone Pine, and 
Independence. She also noted that the Big Pine workshop had taken place the night before, 
with a fair turnout of approximately 30 attendees.  
 
Commissioner Cassell asked Ms. Chillingerian is this concept was the possibility to 
opening more than one ADU on a property. 
 
Ms. Chillingerian replied yes to Commissioner Cassells question citing state law will allow 
up to three ADU’s on a single-family lot such as Junior ADU, attached ADU or a detached 
ADU. 
 
 

ITEM 9:   GENERAL PLAN ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT (GPAPR) - 
(INFORMATIONAL) Staff will present the 2024 GPAPR to the Commission and take 
comments. This document is a reporting document and is exempt from the requirements of 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Guidelines Section 15306 
Information Collection. 

 
 Cathreen Richards, Planning Director, presented the staff report with a slide show. 
 
  
 



 
 
 

County of Inyo  Page 9 Planning Commission Minutes  
  February 26, 2025 

Commissioner Lehwald asked Ms. Richards a question about environmental justice 
element. 

  
 Ms. Richards stated environmental justice element is in process. 
 
 Commissioner Lehwald also asked Ms. Richards if she heard or knew anything about  

water wells and that he heard there was an  independent group that are seeking input for 
monitoring independent wells. 

 
 Ms. Richards response was perhaps to check with the Environmental Health Department 

as she was not aware of this. 
 
 Commissioner Morley asked Ms. Richards a question about active mines. 
 
 Ms. Richards stated that Inyo County has a significant number of mines, with some 

currently in compliance and others not. She also mentioned that there are miners who may 
be in the early stages of preparing to eventually come before the Planning Commission. 

 
  

COMMISSIONERS’ REPORT/COMMENTS  
 

Commissioner Lehwald commented about his amazement of the Bishop’s Tribal Chairman 
and his vision. 
 
Commissioner Cassell also commented about Lone Pine Tribe possibly building a 
casino/hotel in the area. 
 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT   
 

Planning Director Cathreen Richards announced that the March Planning Commission 
meeting will be cancelled. However, she informed the Commission that the meeting 
scheduled for April 23, 2025, will proceed as planned and is expected to have a full agenda. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT   
 
Vice-Chair Peek adjourned the meeting at 12:43 p.m.  
 
 

Prepared by:       
Sally Faircloth 
Planning Department 

 
 
 
 
 

 























































 

 

Planning Department 
168 North Edwards Street 
Post Office Drawer L 
Independence, California  93526 

 
Phone:  (760) 878-0263 
E-Mail:   inyoplanning@inyocounty.us 

 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:  6 (Action Item and Public Hearing) 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING DATE:    April 23, 2025  
 
SUBJECT:                                     Tentative Parcel Map No. 433/ESLS-Baltazar 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The applicant is seeking approval to subdivide a 5-acre parcel into two equal parcels of 2.5 
acres each. Both proposed parcels currently do not contain any structures and there are no plans 
for new construction. The subdivision will not create any setback issues for any future devel-
opment of dwellings or accessory structures.  The property is located at 1990 Indian Springs 
Dr., Alabama Hills, California and both proposed parcels are zoned Rural Residential (RR-2.5), 
which requires a minimum lot size of 2.5-acres, and are designated for Rural Residential Medi-
um (RRM) use in the General Plan. This project is exempt from CEQA under General Rule 
15061(b)(3). 
 
PROJECT INFORMATION 
 
Supervisorial District:  5 
   
Applicants: Eastern Sierra Land Surveys 
 
Landowners:    David Baltazar as Trustee of the Baltazar 1990 Family 

Trust, dated July 20, 1990 
 
Community: Alabama Hills  
    
A.P.N.:    026-420-07 
    
Existing General Plan: Rural Residential Medium (RRM) 
     
Existing Zoning: Rural Residential (RR-2.5) 
 
Surrounding Land Use: Residential single-family homes and vacant parcels 
 
 



 2 

 
Recommended Actions:  

1.) Find the proposed project Tentative Parcel Map No. 
433/ESLS -Baltazar is exempt from the requirements of 
the California Environmental Quality under the General 
Rule 15061(b)(3). 

2.) Make certain findings with respect to and approve Ten-
tative Parcel Map No. 433/ESLS -Baltazar subject to 
Conditions of Approval. 

3.) Waive street improvements and utility installations re-
quired by Inyo County Code Section 16.40.10, as per-
mitted. 

 
Alternatives: 1.)  Specify modifications to the proposal and/or the Con-

ditions of Approval. 
 

2.) Make specific findings and deny the application. 
 

3.) Continue the public hearing to a future date and pro-
vide specific direction to staff regarding additional in-
formation and analysis needed. 

 
Project Planner:   Danielle Visuaño 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On January 31, 2025, a Tentative Parcel Map application was submitted to planning staff to 
subdivide a 5-acre parcel into two equal 2.5-acre parcels. The subdivision is requested to facili-
tate separate ownership opportunities (See Attachment A and Attachment B). 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
 
The applicant requests approval to subdivide a 5-acre parcel into two equal parcels of 2.5 acres 
each (See Attachment B). The property is currently undeveloped and consists of an undisturbed 
high desert setting. The surrounding properties are primarily single-family residences and va-
cant parcels with similar zoning designations. The subdivision will not change the current land 
use and is consistent with the surrounding development pattern. 
 
The application for TPM 433/ESLS-Baltazar was routed to the following Inyo County depart-
ments: Treasurer Tax Collector, Assessor, Environmental Health, and Public Works along with 
the information being sent to the Lone Pine Fire Department. No issues were raised by any de-
partments regarding the submitted application. However, the County’s Environmental Health 
Department provided a comment, although not substantial, providing information that the pro-
posed parcels meet the minimum of a half an acre for well and onsite waste water treatment sys-
tem (OWTS septic), nevertheless, given the topography and geology an engineered alternative 
system to the typical OWTS septic, may be required once a permit is pulled and reviewed for a 



 3 

septic systems on each of the proposed parcels.  This information was conveyed to the owner 
through the applicant and the owner desires to move forward with this proposed subdivision.  
 
Land Use Analysis: The proposed parcels are zoned RR and are situated within a residential 
area, with single-family homes on neighboring properties. The subdivision into two parcels will 
not change the existing land uses or permitted zoning. No new development is planned at this 
time. The surrounding properties are also zoned RR and Open Space with some of the RR 
zoned parcels being developed. The proposed subdivision is consistent with the area's residen-
tial character and density, as both the zoning and land use designations will remain the same. 
 
General Plan: The Land Use Element designates both proposed parcels as RRM, intended for 
single-family residential neighborhoods situated near existing communities or rural residential 
areas. This designation permits public and quasi-public uses, along with other compatible de-
velopments. The residential density is set between 1.0 to 2.5 dwelling units per net acre. New 
development must be connected to a water and sewer system approved by the Inyo County En-
vironmental Health Services Department. Alternatively, an individual well or septic system may 
be developed, subject to approval by the Environmental Health Services Department. 
 
The proposed subdivision is consistent with the RRM designation because it allows single-
family residential uses, and the parcels are large enough to accommodate at least one dwelling 
each. The subdivision complies with the General Plan as it maintains the allowed density and 
does not introduce any conflicting land uses. 
 
Zoning: Both Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 are zoned RR, with a required minimum lot size of 2.5 
acres. In accordance with Inyo County Code (ICC) Chapter 18.21, the zoning also mandates a 
minimum average lot width of 125 feet and sets setbacks of 50 feet for the front yard, 30 feet for 
the rear yard, and 20 feet for the side yards. According to the information provided in the doc-
umentation (TPM No. 433 attached), both parcels comply with these zoning requirements. 
 
Subdivision: ICC Title 16 https://ecode360.com/44464547 and the Subdivision Map Act 
(Government Code Section 66410 et seq.) regulate subdivisions. The proposed lots meet the 
applicable lot standards and design requirements specified in ICC Chapter 16.16, and the TPM 
meets the applicable preparation specifications identified in ICC Section 16.20.070 and Chapter 
2, Article 3 of the Map Act. Conditions of approval are included to ensure that the final map 
meets the appropriate requirements specified by ICC Chapter 16.32 and Chapter 2 of the Map 
Act. Due to the rural nature of the area, staff recommends waving the street and utility im-
provements required by ICC Section 16.40.010 as permitted.  A condition of approval has been 
included to ensure that such improvements will be required as they become necessary. 
 
Access: Access to both Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 is by an unpaved access road. 
 

https://ecode360.com/44464547


 4 

Utilities and Public Services: Both Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 currently have no utility services but 
are in the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power service area.  For water supply, each 
parcel will require a well, and for sewage disposal each parcel will require an on OWTS (septic) 
or an engineered alternative system as determined by the Inyo County Department of Environ-
mental Health.  All required setbacks for any water supply or sewage disposal system will be 
required to be met as stated in the Conditions of Approval. 
 
Fire: The project area is located within the Lone Pine Fire Protection District. The proposed subdi-
vision is not expected to significantly increase the demand for fire protection services. Additionally, 
since the property falls within a Local Fire District, no additional fire safety findings are required in 
accordance with SB-1241. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the proposed project qualifies 
for an exemption under the General Rule (Section 15061(b)(3)), which states that CEQA applies 
only to activities that have the potential to cause a significant effect on the environment. Where 
it can be determined with certainty that there is no possibility the activity may have a significant 
environmental impact, the project is not subject to CEQA. This proposal is consistent with ex-
isting zoning and the General Plan designations, does not increase development density beyond 
what was previously evaluated, and includes no physical development. Therefore, it can be con-
cluded that the project will not result in a significant environmental impact. 
 
NOTIFICATIONS 
TPM 433/ESLS-Baltazar was noticed in the Inyo Register and sent to the property owners of 
property within 300-feet of the project, ten days prior to the Planning Commission Hearing. No 
comments have been received to date. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS – TPM 433/ESLS-Baltazar 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission find that TPM 433/ESLS-Baltazar is CEQA 
exempt under General Rule 15061(b)(3); make the findings specified below; and approve TPM 
433/ESLS-Baltazar subject to Conditions of Approval; and waive street improvements and utility 
installations required by ICC Section 16.40.010 
 
Recommended Findings 
1. TPM 433/ESLS-Baltazar is covered by the General Rule 15061(b)(3) 

[Evidence: the proposed TPM is covered by the General Rule 15061(b)(3) that states CEQA 
applies only to projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the envi-
ronment. Where it can be determined with certainty that there is no possibility the activity 
may have a significant environmental impact, the project is not subject to CEQA. This pro-
posal is consistent with existing zoning and the General Plan designations, does not in-
crease development density beyond what was previously evaluated, and includes no physical 
development. Therefore, it can be concluded that the project will not result in a significant 
environmental impact.] 

 
2. Based on substantial evidence in the record, the Planning Commission finds that TPM 

433/ESLS-Baltazar is in conformance with the Inyo County General Plan, the Inyo County 
Zoning Ordinance, the Inyo County Subdivision Ordinance, and the State Subdivision Map 
Act. 



 5 

[Evidence: The proposed Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 are consistent with the Rural Residential 
Medium Density (RRM) General Plan designation, as it provides for single-family residen-
tial development at a maximum of 1.0 to 2.5-dwelling units per acre. Both Parcels also meet 
the zoning designation of RR-2.5 parcel size and width requirement of 125-feet. The pro-
posed lots meet the applicable requirements specified in ICC Chapter 16.16 and meet the 
applicable requirements of ICC Section 16.20.070 and Chapter 2, Article 3 of the Map Act.  
ICC Section 16.40.010 has been met as street and utility improvements required by ICC 
Section 16.40.010 may be waived, and since no new structures are being constructed and 
waving them is appropriate. A condition of approval is included to require such improve-
ments in the future if they become necessary. Conditions of Approval are included to ensure 
that the final map meets the appropriate requirements specified by ICC Chapter 16.32 and 
Chapter 2 of the Map Act.] 

 
3. Based on substantial evidence in the record, the Planning Commission finds that the site is 

physically suited for the proposed type and density of development and finds that the exist-
ing and planned public facilities and services are adequate to meet the needs of the proposed 
project. 
[Evidence: The project aligns with the residential character of the surrounding area, and 
while no future development is anticipated, potential development will not significantly im-
pact public services or utilities. Parcels 1 and 2 will need to be served by private wells and 
sewer services approved by the Inyo County Environmental Department. With the potential 
of single-family homes to be constructed on both parcels, no increased demand for fire pro-
tection services is expected, as the property lies within the Lone Pine Fire Protection Dis-
trict. TPM 433/ESLS-Baltazar has been reviewed by relevant County departments, with no 
comments that would necessitate changes or additional conditions.] 
 

4. Based on substantial evidence in the record, the Planning Commission finds that the design 
of the subdivision or the types of improvements will not conflict with easements acquired by 
the public at large for access through or use of property within the proposed subdivision, or 
alternate easements have been provided. 
[Evidence: Access to Parcel 1 and Parcel 2, are already established by an unpaved road. 
Additional easements for water supply, sewage disposal and utilities with be required for fu-
ture development.  Applicant shall be required to required easements.] 
 

5. Based on substantial evidence in the record, the Planning Commission finds that the design 
or proposed improvements are not likely to cause substantial environmental damage, or sub-
stantially and avoidably injure fish, wildlife, or their habitat, or cause serious public health, 
welfare, or safety problems. 
[Evidence: As indicated by the Exemption the project will not result in substantial impacts 
to the physical environment or human beings, either individually or cumulatively, or directly 
or indirectly.  The subdivision itself will not result in physical modifications and no changes 
in permitted uses are proposed.] 
 

6. Based on substantial evidence in the record, the Planning Commission finds that no signifi-
cant impacts to native vegetation or wildlife will result from the proposed project. 
[Evidence: As indicated in the Exemption, the subdivision will not cause direct impacts. Alt-
hough Parcels 1 and 2 are both undeveloped the development of single-family dwellings will 
not have a significant impact and will fit into the surrounding neighborhood.] 



 6 

 
 
Conditions of Approval 
1.)  A Final Parcel Map, in substantial conformance with the approved Tentative Parcel Map 
(TPM) and in compliance with the applicable requirements of ICC Chapter 16.32 and Chapter 2 
of the Subdivision Map Act, shall be filed for recordation within two years from the date of ap-
proval by the Planning Commission. A request for a time extension, as outlined in ICC Section 
16.20.110, must be submitted and approved prior to the expiration of this period. 

2.) The applicant shall obtain the necessary permits from the Inyo County Environmental Health 
Department for any water supply and sewage disposal.  Additionally, the applicant shall obtain 
the necessary permits for all utilities and services as necessary. 

3.) The applicant shall obtain all required easements for utilities and services as necessary. 

4.)  Payment of any outstanding taxes, delinquent fees, or special assessments shall be made to 
the satisfaction of the Inyo County Treasurer/Tax Collector prior to the recordation of the Final 
Parcel Map. 

5.)  The applicant and any successors in interest shall be responsible for the improvement or ap-
propriate contribution toward the construction of all streets and utilities within and serving the 
subdivision, in accordance with applicable County standards as required in the future. 

6.)   The applicant, landowner, and/or operator shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Inyo 
County, its agents, officers, and employees from any claims, actions, or proceedings related to 
TPM No. 433/ESLS-Baltazar, including those resulting from the applicant’s failure to comply 
with the conditions of approval. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A – Proximity Map 
B – Map 
Tentative Parcel Map (TPM) No. 433 
 
 
 



ATTACHMENT A 

PROXIMITY MAP 

APN: 026-420-07 

Project Location: 
1990 Indian Springs Dr. 

0 

Alabama Hills 

0.28 0.55 1.1 Miles 

I 

.. .. 

N 

A 



□ 
/)�' 0 

D 

ATTACHMENT B
Vicinity Map 

APN: 026-420-07 

0 

Indian Sprlng 
'.. 

'\ 
', 

'i 

Project Location: I I :.J o' co

' 
, 

1990 Indian Springs Dr.. 

0 

I 

Alabama Hills 

N0t111;-�

(<-4

0.07 0.15 

l 

0.3 Miles 

I 

::;::> 

N 

A 





 

 

Planning Department 
168 North Edwards Street 
Post Office Drawer L 
Independence, California, 93526 

 
Phone:  (760) 878-0263 

FAX:      (760) 873-2712 

E-Mail:   inyoplanning@inyocounty.us 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO.:   7 (Action Item – Public Hearing) 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION  April 23, 2025 
MEETING DATE:       
 
SUBJECT: Violation of Conditional Use Permit 

(CUP) 2019-06/Grow for Gold  
      
     

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On August 28, 2019, the applicant, Grow 4 Gold, LLC (Grow 4 Gold) was approved for a 
CUP to operate a commercial cannabis cultivation operation located approximately 26-
miles southeast of the community of Charleston View in Sandy Valley (staff report and 
Notice of Decision attached). The CUP was conditioned with, among other things, a 
requirement to conform to all applicable provisions of the Inyo County Code and State 
Regulations.  Grow 4 Gold has failed to meet this condition with regard to the building 
and safety code. 
 
PROJECT INFORMATION. 
 
Supervisory District:    5 
  
Project Applicant:  Grow 4 Gold, LLC – 9171 Santiago Drive, Huntington Beach, CA 
92646 
      
Property Owner:   Sandy Perm 3 LLC – 3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, #140, Las Vegas, 
NV 891469 
     
Site Address: 62 Long Road 
    
Community:   Sandy Valley 
 
A.P.N.:   048-350-38 
 
General Plan:  Agricultural (A) 
     
Zoning:   Open Space with a 40-acre minimum (OS-40) 
   



 2 

Size of Parcel:   Approximately 164-acres                 
        
Surrounding Land Use:        

   
Staff Recommended Action: 1.) Revoke the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 

2019-06/Grow 4 Gold with the Findings as 
provided in the staff report and Certify this 
action is exempt under CEQA. 

 
Alternatives: 1.)  Do not revoke the CUP. 

2.)  Continue the public hearing to a future date, and 
provide specific direction to staff regarding what 
additional information and analysis is needed. 

 
Project Planner:   Danielle Visuaño 
 
STAFF ANALYSIS 
Background and Overview 
On August 28, 2019, the Planning Commission, upon the recommendation of staff, 
approved a CUP for the applicant, Grow 4 Gold, to operate a commercial cannabis 
cultivation operation in the community of Sandy Valley (see maps below). The project 
proposal included drying and packaging the cultivated product at the project site.  
 
This CUP was approved with several conditions of approval, these are: 
 

1. Hold Harmless 
The applicant/developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Inyo 
County agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the County or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void or 
annul an approval of the county, its advisory agencies, its appeals board, or 
legislative body concerning Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 2019-06/Grow 4 
Gold. The County reserves the right to prepare its own defense. 
 
 
 

Location: Use: Gen. Plan Designation Zoning 
Site Cannabis 

cultivation 
Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
North Vacant/BLM Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
East Vacant/private Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
South Farming/private Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
West Vacant/developed/

private 
Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 



 3 

2. Compliance with County Code 
The applicant/developer shall conform to all applicable provisions of Inyo County 
Code and State regulations. If the use provided by this conditional use permit is 
not established within one year of the approval date it will become void.   

 
Grow 4 Gold was given information regarding the Building and Safety Department’s 
requirements and permitting processes.  
 
Regarding Condition #2, it mandates compliance with Title 14 of the County Building 
and Safety Code, which incorporates the California Building and Safety Code and 
prohibits cultivation within 300 feet of any lot line in Open Space (OS) designated areas. 
Grow 4 Gold has been repeatedly advised of these requirements. However, rather than 
complying with the Conditions of Approval of its CUP, the operator has constructed two 
greenhouses, a hoop structure, placed multiple shipping containers, and constructed other 
related structures without obtaining the necessary building, electrical, or plumbing 
permits. Although cultivation within the 300-foot OS setback ceased in the summer of 
20241, unpermitted construction and utility work continue to this present day. 
Additionally, throughout the use of the CUP, which was approved in 2019, Grow 4 Gold 
has been cultivating cannabis in violation of the CUP’s conditions of approval.  
 
Building and Safety Department staff notified the Planning Department that Grow 4 Gold 
failed to obtain the required permits for its cannabis operations and that existing work on 
the property remains unpermitted. Both departments have held multiple discussions with 
the operator and scheduled several site inspections. Following these interactions, Grow 4 
Gold indicated it would submit the necessary permit applications but repeatedly cited 
engineering delays as justification for inaction. While plan submissions were attempted in 
2023 and 2024, they were deemed incomplete and insufficient to address the violations. 
 
Any failure to meet the Conditions of Approval on a landuse permit, including a CUP, 
puts it in violation. Grow 4 Gold has had since 2019 to become compliant with their CUP 
which has included numerous offers of help and discussions and descriptions of what 
needs to be done to become compliant.  However, Grow 4 Gold has demonstrated very 
little effort in coming into compliance, but continue to grow cannabis while in being in 
violation of their CUP.  
 
On March 19, 2024, staff issued a notice stating that the CUP would be subject to facing 
revocation on June 1, 2024, if the project did not comply with the Conditions of 
Approval, including obtaining permits for unpermitted structures and ceasing cultivation 
within the prohibited 300-foot setback.  As of the June 1, 2024 deadline, Grow 4 Gold 
remained noncompliant regarding unpermitted structures but did subsequently remove 
the cultivation from the setback area.  Despite continued efforts by staff to assist in 
bringing the project into compliance, no progress was made. Consequently, an in-person 
meeting was held on August 29, 2024, where Grow 4 Gold committed to securing 

 
1 See March 19, 2024 letter attached.  Although there is no longer cultivation within 300 feet of any lot 
line, it is addressed in this staff report because it was discussed in the March 19, 2024 letter. 



 4 

approved permits for all structures by March 1, 2025. As of today, no permits have been 
approved. 
 
Given the several opportunities provided to Grow 4 Gold to come into compliance with 
their CUP staff is now recommending that the Planning Commission revoke the CUP. 
The revocation of this CUP will also likely result in Grow 4 Gold losing their County and 
State cannabis cultivation licenses.  
 
Site Proximity Map 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 5 

 
 
Site Location Map 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Planning Department staff understands the implications of this CUP revocation on Grow 
4 Gold’s cannabis business.  However, having been non-compliant with the Conditions of 
Approval set forth for in the CUP for over 5-years and having been given several 
opportunities to come into compliance even after the August 29, 2024, meeting, staff has 
exhausted their means to provide any further assistance in the continuation of the 
cannabis operation under this CUP.  Staff is now left with moving forward with the 
request to revoke the CUP for Grow 4 Gold.  Planning and Building and Safety staff have 
tried during this time to help Grow 4 Gold with the permitting process to no avail; 
therefore, staff is recommending that the Planning Commission revoke CUP 2019-
06/Grow 4 Gold.  
 
Findings  
 

The Notice of Violation was properly served to Grow 4 Gold to the attention of 
Benjamen Hynes, as the owner of the property and the permit holder. 
[Evidence: Copies of the Notice were sent via certified US mail on March 5, 
2025, and via email on March 4, 2025.] 
 
 



 6 

 
 
This hearing was properly noticed. 
[Evidence: Notice of the date of his hearing was provided in the Inyo Register on 
April 12, 2025, and mailed to property owners within 1,500-feet of the project 
property location before April 12, 2025 which is more than 10 days before the 
date of this hearing.]  
 
Grow 4 Gold is in violation of the Conditions of Approval required for CUP 
2019-06/Grow 4 Gold. 
[Evidence: CUP 2019-06/Grow 4 Gold was approved on August 28, 2019. Grow 
4 Gold has been engaged in commercial cannabis cultivation since the approval 
without the benefit of proper building, plumbing or electrical permits, which is 
required by Condition #2 of CUP 2019-06/Grow 4 Gold.] 

 

This action is Exempt from CEQA under 15321- Enforcement Actions by 
Regulatory Agencies.  

     
ATTACHMENTS 

• August 28, 2019 Staff Report 
• Notice of Decision 
• March 19. 2024 letter discussing impending June 1, 2024 revocation deadline 
• March 3, 2025 Notice of Violation of Conditional Use Permit 2019/06/Grow 4 

Gold 
 
 



 

 

Planning Department 

168 North Edwards Street 

Post Office Drawer L 

Independence, California  93526 

 

Phone:  (760) 878-0263 

FAX:      (760) 873-2712 

E-Mail:   inyoplanning@inyocounty.us 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO.:   7 (Action Item – Public Hearing) 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION  August 28, 2019 

MEETING DATE:       

 

SUBJECT: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 2019-

06/Grow 4 Gold Cannabis   

            

    

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

The applicant has applied for a CUP for the cultivation of cannabis located approximately 

26-miles southeast of the community of Charleston View (45 miles southeast of 

Pahrump, NV), in the community of Sandy Valley, in southeast Inyo County. The site is 

approximately 164 acres, but roughly 97 acres will be cultivated. The project also 

includes a 20,000 ft
2 

processing building to dry and package the cultivated product.  

 

PROJECT INFORMATION. 

 

Supervisory District:    5 

 

Project Applicant:  Grow 4 Gold – 9174 Santiago Drive, Huntington Beach CA, 92646 

      

Property Owner:    Sandy Prem 3 LLC – 3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy, # 140, Las Vegas 

NV 89169 

     

Site Address: Long Rd 

    

Community:   Sandy Valley 

 

A.P.N.:   048-350-38  

 

General Plan:  Agricultural (A) 

     

Zoning:   Open Space with a 40 acre minimum (OS-40)  

   

Size of Parcel:   Approximately 164-acres                 



 2 

        

Surrounding Land Use:        

 

   

Staff Recommended Action: 1.) Approve the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) 

2019-06/Grow 4 Gold and certify the project as a 

Mitigated Negative Declaration under CEQA. 

 

Alternatives: 1.) Deny the CUP. 

 2.) Approve the CUP with additional Conditions of 

Approval. 

3.)  Continue the public hearing to a future date, and 

provide specific direction to staff regarding what 

additional information and analysis is needed. 

 

 

Project Planner:   Steve Karamitros 

 

 

STAFF ANALYSIS 

Background and Overview 

The applicant has applied for a CUP to operate a commercial cannabis cultivation farm 

located on Long Road, in the community of Sandy Valley. This farm will produce 

cannabis flowers, grown, dried and packaged at a 20,000 ft
2
 facility on the project site. 

The property is zoned OS-40, which allows for cannabis cultivation with a CUP, and is 

located in an agricultural area of the county surrounded by other turf farms that are 

currently operational. The surrounding area is primarily zoned OS-40. The proposed 

location is not within 600-feet of a school, daycare, park or library; and therefore, is not 

prohibited by state or county exclusion areas. Please note that drying, curing, trimming, 

and preparation for transportation are considered allowed uses in the cannabis cultivation 

process.  

 

 

 

 

Location: Use: Gen. Plan Designation Zoning 

Site Turf farm Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
North Vacant/BLM Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
East Vacant/private Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
South developed/private Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 
West Vacant/private Agricultural (A) Open Space with a 40 acre 

minimum (OS-40) 



 3 

Site Proximity Map 

 

 
 

Site Location 

 
 

General Plan Consistency 

The goal of this project is to allow for a cannabis cultivation & manufacturing operation. 

The project is consistent with the General Plan designation of Agricultural (A) as it 



 4 

provides for the production of “food or fiber on a regular and sustained basis” with 

accompanying “agricultural processing facilities.” The (A) General Plan designation is 

compatible with the existing Open-Space (OS-40) zoning designation. It is also 

compatible with the General Plan’s Conservation and Open Space Element’s Goal 

Agriculture (AG) 1.0: Provide and maintain a viable and diverse agriculture industry in 

Inyo County. The applicant is proposing to grow cannabis & cannabis based products. 

This activity is consistent with Goal AG 1.0, as it provides for a more diverse agriculture 

industry than currently exists in the County.   

 

Zoning Ordinance Consistency 

The proposed project is a CUP to allow for the commercial cultivation of cannabis. The 

OS-40 zone allows for commercial cannabis cultivation with a CUP as long as the project 

can meet the 300-foot setback requirement. The Open Space zone, within its purpose 

statement, says that it is established to: encourage the protection of mountainous, hilly 

upland, valley, agricultural, potential agricultural, fragile desert areas, and other 

mandated lands from fire, erosion, soil destruction, pollution and other detrimental effects 

of intensive land use activities. This project will bring more agriculture activities to the 

county and is proposed to be grown in an indoor rafter building, which utilizes natural 

light, and employs drip irrigation.    

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

Conditional Use Permit 2019-06/Grow 4 Gold is a Mitigated Negative Declaration under 

CEQA. This project will have incorporate several mitigation measures as conditions of 

approval for the issuance of a conditional use permit. Any use of lighting will adhere to 

Inyo County’s General Plan Visual Resources requirement (VIS-1.6-Control of Light & 

Glare), which requires all outdoor light fixtures including street lighting, externally 

illuminated signs, advertising displays, and billboards use low-energy, shielded light 

fixtures which direct light downward (i.e., lighting shall not emit higher than a horizontal 

level) and are fully shielded. In addition, the owner or his agent will be required to follow 

best management practices to control for dust and odors & will consult with the Great 

Basin Air Pollution Control District to minimize potential air quality effects from the 

cannabis crop’s VOC emissions (Terpenes). The owner or his agent shall consult with the 

Inyo County Environmental Health Department to manage indoor water & sewage waste 

for the processing facility.  

 

Please note, the current water usage for the turf farm can be as high as 3.5 acre-feet-per 

year. The projected cannabis operation is expected to be about 1 acre-foot-per-year. Thus, 

ground water resources will be conserved as the County benefits from a more sustainable 

economic opportunity.   

 

TRIBAL CONSULTATION 

In compliance with AB 52, SB 18, and Public Resource Code Section 21080.3.1(b), tribes 

identified as being local to Inyo County, were notified via a certified letter on June 5, 2019 

about the project and the opportunity for consultation on this project. The tribes notified 

were as follows: the Twenty-Nine Palms Band of Mission Indians, the Big Pine Paiute 

Tribe, the Bishop Paiute Tribe, Cabazon Band of the Mission Indians, the Fort 



 5 

Independence Paiute Tribe, Lone Pine Paiute-Shoshone Tribe, the Shingle Springs Band of 

Miwok Indians, the Timbisha Shoshone Tribe, and the Torres Martinez Desert Cahuilla 

Indians.  

 

Inyo County received a letter from the Shingle Springs Band of Miwok Indians stating that 

there were no known tribal resources in the project area; however, they requested that the 

County keep them appraised of any new developments. The Torres Martinez Desert 

Cahuilla Indians also replied, stating that they wished to defer all future notifications, 

related to this project, to Tribes that are closer to the site location. 

 

NOTICING & REVIEW 

The application for CUP 2019-06/Grow 4 Gold has been reviewed by the appropriate 

county departments and no issues were reported. This included reviews by the 

Environmental Health, Public Works, and the Inyo/Mono Agricultural Commission. 

 

Public review of the CEQA document was noticed in the Inyo Register on July 16, 2019. 

No comments were received. Comments were received from the Lahontan Regional Water 

Quality Control Board, and these have been deemed appropriate and incorporated into the 

Conditions of Approval for the permit (see below). The public hearing for this CUP was 

noticed on August 10, 2019 in the Inyo Register and mailed to property owners within 

1,500-feet of the project location as required by 18.78.360(F). 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Planning Department staff recommends the approval of Conditional Use Permit No. 

2019-06/Grow 4 Gold, with the following Findings and Conditions of Approval: 

 

FINDINGS 

1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit is an Initial Study with Mitigated Negative 

Declaration under CEQA guidelines and the provisions of the California 

Environmental Quality Act have been satisfied. 

[Evidence: Pursuant to 14 California Code Regulatory Sections 15000 et seq., the 

County has performed an Initial Study with a Mitigated Negative Declaration in 

order to “consult with other County departments, agencies, groups, and 

individuals, which may provide information and assistance to the Planning 

Department during this phase of environmental review” (Inyo County Code 

Section 15.28.030). This document contains the necessary “project description, 

evaluation of environmental impacts that may be conducted using an 

environmental checklist supported by sufficient explanations, discussion of any 

potentially significant impacts and mitigation measures” (Inyo County Code 

Section 15.28.040).] 

  

2. The proposed Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the Inyo County General 

Plan Land Use designation of Agricultural (A). 

[Evidence: The goal of this project is to allow for cultivation of an agricultural 

produce, cannabis, on a parcel of land with an (A) General Plan designation. The 

project is consistent with the (A) designation as it allows the production of “food 

or fiber on a regular and sustained basis” with accompanying “agricultural 



 6 

processing facilities.” The proposed Grow 4 Gold cannabis cultivation project is 

an agricultural product, which is compatible with the A General Plan 

designation. It is also consistent with the General Plan’s Conservation and Open 

Space Element’s Goal Agriculture (AG) 1.0: Provide and maintain a viable and 

diverse agriculture industry in Inyo County. The applicant is proposing to grow 

cannabis. This activity is consistent with Goal AG 1.0, as it provides for a more 

diverse agriculture industry than currently exists in the County.] 

 

3. The proposed Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the Inyo County Zoning 

Ordinance, which permits cannabis cultivation activities, as a conditional use, in 

the OS-40 zone. 

[Evidence: The OS-40 zone allows for commercial cannabis cultivation with a 

CUP as long as the project can meet the 300-foot setback requirement. The Open 

Space zone, within its purpose statement, says that it is established to: encourage 

the protection of mountainous, hilly upland, valley, agricultural, potential 

agricultural, fragile desert areas, and other mandated lands from fire, erosion, 

soil destruction, pollution and other detrimental effects of intensive land use 

activities. This project will bring more agriculture activities to the county and is 

proposed to be conducted outdoors, using drip irrigation. As stated above, drying, 

curing, trimming, and preparation for transportation are considered allowed uses 

in the cannabis cultivation process.] 

 

4. The proposed Conditional Use Permit is necessary or desirable. 

[Evidence: The General Plan’s Economic Development Element states: ‘Inyo 

County’s wealth is…highly dependent on a number of activities that occur 

throughout the County…including grazing, mining, water transportation, and the 

growing of crops. These activities are expected to continue in the long term, and 

are expected to remain stable throughout the time horizon of this General Plan.’  

The applicant has stated that Grow 4 Gold expects to produce cannabis flowers 

and products that will serve both County businesses and consumers, as well as 

other markets in the State. This is a sustainable model, which is desirable, as 

evidenced by the County’s General Plan.] 

 

5. The proposed Conditional Use Permit is properly related to other uses and 

transportation and service facilities in the vicinity. 

[Evidence: The proposed conditional use permit is for agricultural use. The 

cannabis cultivation is expected to replace a hemp cultivation project that will 

precede it (CUP 2019-09/Grow 4 Gold Hemp). This in turn is replacing a pre-

existing agricultural use of the turf farm. It is related to the other agricultural 

activities in the area and will not cause impacts on transportation or service 

facilities in the vicinity as these facilities already accommodate the pick-up and 

delivery of turf and sod products from Sandy Valley.] 

 

6. The proposed Conditional Use Permit would not, under all the circumstances of 

this case, affect adversely the health or safety of persons living or working in the 

vicinity or be materially detrimental to the public welfare. 



 7 

[Evidence: The proposed conditional use permit is to allow for cannabis 

cultivation.  This agricultural use will not change or increase the current level or 

general type of allowed uses in the Sandy Valley area and the proposed security 

plan for Grow 4 Gold was reviewed by the Sheriff’s Department as a business 

license requirement; therefore, it will not create impacts on the health or safety of 

persons living or working in the vicinity or be materially detrimental to the public 

welfare.] 

 

7. Operating requirements necessitate the Conditional Use Permit for the site. 

[Evidence: Cannabis cultivation activities require a conditional use permit per 

Inyo County Code Section 18.45.030(P) and is therefore necessary for the 

operation of Eco Holdings LLC.] 

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. Hold Harmless 

The applicant/developer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Inyo 

County agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 

against the County or its agents, officers, or employees to attack, set aside, void or 

annul an approval of the county, its advisory agencies, its appeals board, or 

legislative body concerning Conditional Use Permit No. CUP 2019-06/Grow 4 

Gold. The County reserves the right to prepare its own defense. 

 

2. Compliance with County Code 

The applicant/developer shall conform to all applicable provisions of Inyo County 

Code and State regulations. If the use provided by this conditional use permit is 

not established within one year of the approval date it will become void.   

 

3. Environmental Commitments under CEQA:  

 Aesthetic: The owner or his agent will adhere to Inyo County’s General Plan 

Visual Resources requirement (VIS-1.6-Control of Light & Glare), which 

requires all outdoor light fixtures including street lighting, externally 

illuminated signs, advertising displays, and billboards use low-energy, 

shielded light fixtures which direct light downward (i.e., lighting shall not 

emit higher than a horizontal level) and are fully shielded. 

 Air Quality: The owner or his agent will be required to follow best 

management practices to control for dust and odors & will consult with the 

Great Basin Air Pollution Control District to minimize potential air quality 

effects from the cannabis crop’s VOC emissions (Terpenes). 

 Geology & Soils: The owner or his agent shall consult with the Inyo County 

Environmental Health Department to manage indoor water & sewage waste 

for the processing facility. 

 Hydrology & Water Quality: Pursuant to comments received from the 

Lahontan Regional Water Quality Control Board (letter dated July 29, 2019), 

the applicant shall coordinate with the regional water quality board to obtain 

the necessary water quality or stormwater discharge permits.  
 

     











 

 

Planning Department 
168 North Edwards Street 
Post Office Drawer L 
Independence, California  93526 

 
Phone:  (760) 878-0263                
FAX:      (760) 878-0382 
E-Mail:   inyoplanning@ 
               inyocounty.us 

  
 
March 19, 2024 
 
TO: Tim Zamora 
 Benjamen Hynes 
 Rutt Presrirut 
 
FROM: Danielle Visuaño, Cathreen Richards, Tyson Sparrow 
 
SENT via email to:  tim@timzamora.com, timzamora@gmail.com, benjamenhynes@gmail.com, 
rutt@valtusre.com 
 
RE:  CUP 2019-06/Grow 4 Gold (Cannabis)  
 
This letter is being sent in response to the various phone calls and emails received by the Planning 
Department in regard to the above listed conditional use permit (CUP).  Most of these 
conversations are in regard to commercial cannabis cultivation, the required 300 foot setback, 
possession of other cannabis licenses, and your request to maintain an existing hoop structure 
within the 300 foot setback for processing. 
 
Cannabis Cultivation 
 
The above CUP is strictly for the commercial cultivation of cannabis.  Commercial cannabis activity 
is defined under 18.06.181 as: 
 

any commercial business activity relating to cannabis, including but not limited 
to cultivating, transporting, distributing, manufacturing, compounding, 
converting, processing, preparing, storing, packaging, delivering, and selling 
(wholesale and/or retail sales) of cannabis and any ancillary products and 
accessories in the unincorporated area of the county, whether or not carried on 
for gain or profit. 

 
The commercial cannabis activities under your CUP meet this definition and are clearly stated in 
your CUP on:  
 

• Pages 1 - detailing the project activities approved under SUBJECT: Approval of Conditional 
Use Permit #2019-06/Grow 4 Gold.  

• Page 1 – Findings paragraph 2 
• Page 3 - Findings paragraph 6 
• Page 3 - Findings paragraph 7 

mailto:tim@timzamora.com
mailto:timzamora@gmail.com
mailto:benjamenhynes@gmail.com
mailto:rutt@valtusre.com


 
Your activities further meet the definition of a permit classification for cultivation as provided in 
18.06.182(A): 
 

Cultivation permit for commercial activity involving activity involving the planting, growing, 
harvesting, drying, curing, grading or trimming of cannabis. 
 

Further, the submitted application for the CUP was only for commercial cultivation of cannabis and 
for no other activities that would require being addressed in this CUP.  Commercial cannabis 
cultivation is the only cannabis related objective approved under your CUP. 
 
300 Foot Setback 
 
Under the Open Space zoning for the parcel associated with this CUP, the land use allowed for with 
your CUP is listed under 18.12.040(N): 
 

Commercial cannabis cultivation, which shall be three hundred feet from all 
parcel lot lines, and shall comply with otherwise applicable yard requirements. 

 
The 300 foot setback provision is also provided as a condition under your CUP on: 
 

• Page 1 – stating the project will be “compliant with the setback requirements for the 
County’s Commercial cannabis ordinance.” 

• Page 2 – Findings paragraph 3. 
 
CUP Scope of Approval 
 
The CUP clearly and expressly states the permit is only for commercial cannabis cultivation and is 
to meet the 300 foot setbacks.  As discussed above your CUP is only for commercial cannabis 
cultivation and as such shall meet the Open Space zoning conditional use requirement of having a 
300 foot setback from all parcel lines. 
 
Additional Uses Not Approved Under the CUP 
 
In the discussions that have been going on through various phone calls with various Planning staff, 
additional land uses have been brought up by the applicant and the contractor all of which are not 
covered under the CUP.   
 
Manufacturing License  
 
There has been discussion of the applicant possessing a manufacturing license.  In contact with 
the Agricultural Department, Planning has determined the applicant does not possess a current 
manufacturing license.  At one time the applicant may have possessed such a license but it was 
not renewed.  This license was not raised or applied for in the application associated under this 
CUP.  It may also be that this license is associated with another project on another parcel.  
According to 5.40.050(B): 
 



A separate commercial cannabis business license shall be required for each 
premises where commercial cannabis activity is carried on, at, or out of, 
regardless of ownership. 

 
As such, even if the license was active, if it was for another parcel it cannot be utilized on the parcel 
associated with this CUP.  Further, there is no evidence in the application for this CUP or the CUP 
itself of any manufacturing license.  Any manufacturing license, whether current or one to be 
applied for, will need to be an amendment to this CUP or a separate CUP altogether. 
 
Micro-Business 
 
There has also been discussion of the applicant possessing a micro-business license.  There is no 
evidence of this license.  Even if such license exists, it is not associated, nor was it applied for, 
under this CUP. 
 
Hoop Structure Use  
 
Currently there is a hoop structure within the 300 foot setback on the west side of the parcel.  The 
applicant insists the hoop structure is to be utilized for processing as they state 
process/manufacturing is not cultivation.  As discussed above, commercial cannabis cultivation 
clearly includes processing under 18.06.181, and there is no manufacturing allowed under this 
CUP.  No such commercial cannabis activities can be conducted in the hoop structure as it exists 
in the 300 foot setback.  
 
Further, currently the hoop structure is not permitted as it was constructed without a building 
permit from Building and Safety.  As you are aware, compliance with all local zoning regulations 
and building codes is a fundamental requirement for the approval and maintenance of a CUP.  
Under 18.03.100 it states: 
 

No building or structure shall be erected, reconstructed or structurally altered 
or enlarged, nor shall any building, structure or land be used for any purpose 
except as specifically provided in this title and allowed in the district in which 
such building, structure or land is located. … Every department, official and 
employee of the county having the authority to issue any permit or license 
required by law shall comply with the provisions of this title. Any license or 
permit issued in conflict with the provisions of this title shall be void and of no 
effect. 
 

Since the hoop structure located in the 300 foot setback is not permitted it is not only 
noncompliant with the requirements of the CUP it is also noncompliant with the zoning code. 
 
Cultivation Structure 
 
In review of the plans of the cultivation structure it has also been determined this structure is also 
within the 300 foot setback requirement of the CUP.  As stated above, cultivation cannot take place 
within the 300 foot setback.  In addition to the hoop structure not being compliant with the CUP 
and zoning code, the cultivation structure is also noncompliant with the CUP and in violation of the 
zoning code. 



 
Notice of Impending CUP Revocation 
 
The presence of unpermitted and noncompliant structures contravenes the terms and 
conditions outlined in the CUP approval process.  As a result, we are informing you that 
the Planning Department will commence the process for revoking your Conditional Use 
Permit 2019-06/Grow 4 Gold if the following matters are not resolved/completed by the 
end of the day June 1, 2024: 
 

• The hoop structure is relocated to inside the building envelope outside the 300 
foot setback. 

• The hoop structure is permitted by Building and Safety. 
• The cultivation structure is adjusted to permanently prevent cultivation within 

the 300 foot setback. 
• Any other structures that are not permitted are rectified and approved by 

Building and Safety. 
 
Any of the above listed action not completed by June 1, 2024 will result in the commencement of 
the revocation of your CUP.  All relevant actions will be verified with Building and Safety. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions on the above information.  
 
Respectfully, 
 
Danielle Visuaño 
Inyo County Planning Associate Planner 
 
Cathreen Richards, 
Inyo County Planning Director 
 
Tyson Sparrow 
Technical Building and Safety Official 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



















2025-02
























	PCAgenda 04.23.25.pdf
	02.26.25  PC Minutes.pdf
	ITEM 1: PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – All recited the Pledge of Allegiance at 10:02 a.m.
	ITEM 2: ROLL CALL - Commissioners, Callie Peek, Kate Morley, Howard Lehwald, and Aaron Cassell were present.

	Final commission packet Leon7farms.pdf
	No. 6  TPM No. 433- ESLS-Baltazar Staff Report with Attachments.pdf
	FINAL TPM 433 Staff Report - no attachments
	PROJECT INFORMATION
	Existing General Plan: Rural Residential Medium (RRM)

	BACKGROUND
	Subdivision: ICC Title 16 https://ecode360.com/44464547 and the Subdivision Map Act (Government Code Section 66410 et seq.) regulate subdivisions. The proposed lots meet the applicable lot standards and design requirements specified in ICC Chapter 16....
	Utilities and Public Services: Both Parcel 1 and Parcel 2 currently have no utility services but are in the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power service area.  For water supply, each parcel will require a well, and for sewage disposal each parcel...
	Fire: The project area is located within the Lone Pine Fire Protection District. The proposed subdivision is not expected to significantly increase the demand for fire protection services. Additionally, since the property falls within a Local Fire Dis...
	ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
	Recommended Findings
	Conditions of Approval



	Attachment A - Proximaty Map
	Attachment B - Vicinity Map
	NEW - 24-051 TPM 433-Baltazar Rev 2

	-- Revocation Staff Report with attachments.pdf
	Staff Report Violation CUP 2019-06 G4G- Copy
	PLANNING COMMISSION  April 23, 2025
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	PROJECT INFORMATION.
	General Plan:  Agricultural (A)
	Findings

	ATTACHMENTS

	Staff Report_Grow_4_Gold_cannabis
	NOD_Grow_4_Gold_cannabis_signed
	FINAL - Letter 19Mar2024
	March 19, 2024

	Notice of Revocation hearing




